San Jose State University
SJSU ScholarWorks

Mineta Transportation Institute Publications

6-2020

The Fresno State Transportation Challenge

Christian Wandeler California State University, Fresno

Steven Hart California State University, Fresno

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/mti_publications

Part of the Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons, Elementary Education Commons, and the Transportation Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Christian Wandeler and Steven Hart. "The Fresno State Transportation Challenge" *Mineta Transportation Institute Publications* (2020). https://doi.org/10.31979/mti.2020.1955

This Report is brought to you for free and open access by SJSU ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Mineta Transportation Institute Publications by an authorized administrator of SJSU ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@sjsu.edu.





The Fresno State Transportation Challenge

Christian Wandeler, PhD Steve Hart, PhD





FRESN@STATE Discovery. Diversity. Distinction.

CSU TRANSPORTATION CONSORTIUM

transweb.sjsu.edu/csutc

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

Founded in 1991, the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI), an organized research and training unit in partnership with the Lucas College and Graduate School of Business at San José State University (SJSU), increases mobility for all by improving the safety, efficiency, accessibility, and convenience of our nation's transportation system. Through research, education, workforce development, and technology transfer, we help create a connected world. MTI leads the four-university. MTI leads the four-university California State University Transportation Consortium funded by the State of California through Senate Bill 1.

MTI's transportation policy work is centered on three primary responsibilities:

Research

MTI works to provide policy-oriented research for all levels of government and the private sector to foster the development of optimum surface transportation systems. Research areas include: bicycle and pedestrian issues; financing public and private sector transportation improvements; intermodal connectivity and integration; safety and security of transportation systems; sustainability of transportation systems; transportation / land use / environment; and transportation planning and policy development. Certified Research Associates conduct the research. Certification requires an advanced degree, generally a Ph.D., a record of academic publications, and professional references. Research projects culminate in a peer-reviewed publication, available on TransWeb, the MTI website (http://transweb.sjsu.edu).

Education

The Institute supports education programs for students seeking a career in the development and operation of surface transportation systems. MTI, through San José State University, offers an AACSB-accredited Master of Science in Transportation Management and graduate certificates in Transportation Management, Transportation Security, and High-Speed Rail Management that serve to prepare the nation's transportation managers for the 21st century. With the

active assistance of the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), MTI delivers its classes over a state-of-the-art videoconference network throughout the state of California and via webcasting beyond, allowing working transportation professionals to pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location. To meet the needs of employers seeking a diverse workforce, MTI's education program promotes enrollment to under-represented groups.

Information and Technology Transfer

MTI utilizes a diverse array of dissemination methods and media to ensure research results reach those responsible for managing change. These methods include publication, seminars, workshops, websites, social media, webinars, and other technology transfer mechanisms. Additionally, MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and journals and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. MTI's extensive collection of transportation- related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the State of California. This report does not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the State of California or the Mineta Transportation Institute, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

REPORT 20-23

THE FRESNO STATE TRANSPORTATION CHALLENGE

Christian Wandeler, PhD Steve Hart, PhD

June 2020

A publication of **Mineta Transportation Institute** Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1.	Report No. 20-23	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Cata	alog No.		
4.	Title and Subtitle The Fresno State Transportation Challe	5. Report Date June 2020				
		6. Performing Organization Code				
7.	Authors Christian Wandeler, PhD Steve Hart, PhD	8. Performing Organization Report CA-MTI-1955				
9.	Performing Organization Name and A Mineta Transportation Institute	10. Work Unit No.				
	College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219	11. Contract or Grant No. ZSB12017-SJAUX				
12.	Sponsoring Agency Name and Addre State of California SB1 2017/2018	13. Type of Report and Period Covered Final Report				
	University Sponsored Programs Administration 401 Golden Shore, 5th Floor Long Beach, CA 90802	14. Sponsoring Agency Code				
15.	15. Supplemental Notes DOI: 10.31979/mti.2020.1955					
16. Abstract The goal of the "Fresno State Transportation Challenge" was outreach to schools and community engagement, to provide K-8 students opportunities to learn about transportation and transportation-related careers, and to practice 21st century skills by solving a transportation-related issue in their community. Through the pedagogical frameworks of action civics and eduScrum (a method to facilitate self-managed teamwork with a visual board), teachers and students worked on solving issues in their community. They learned design thinking to identify issues and develop solutions while using eduScrum to manage their work. University students from transportation engineering visited the schools regularly to support the K-8 students in their work on a transportation-related project. The study tested two different formats: summer school and during the regular academic school year. The research question was: What is the impact of the "Fresno State Transportation Challenge" on K-8 students, K-8 teachers, university students, and community members? The research methods involved observations, open interviews, and a final survey of participants. Key findings reveal the Transportation Challenge is suited to teach elementary and middle school students about transportation and transportation-related careers, and to encourage them to apply this knowledge in addressing a transportation-related issue in their community. The involvement of university students had a positive influence on the younger students' learning in regard to motivation, role modeling, and broadening the perspective of transportation scillaboration, communication, creativity, teamwork, critical thinking, and persistence to overcome challenges. Implications for practice include that leveraging university resources, such as the Fresno State Transportation institute, can be an effective way to engage K-8 students and teachers in transportation-related authentic learning experience, increase their awareness of transportation-related careers and t						
17.	Key Words Education, transportation careers, STEM, workforce development	y Words18. Distribution Statementucation, transportation careers, 'EM, workforce developmentNo restrictions. This document is available to the public through The National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161				
19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified		20. Security Classif. (of this page) Unclassified	21. No. of Pages 20	22. Price		

Copyright © 2020 by **Mineta Transportation Institute** All rights reserved

> DOI: 10.31979/mti.2020.1955

Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Aly Tawfik for his leadership in founding the Fresno State Transportation Institute, making the children's work possible, and supporting the improvement of our community in so many ways.

A big thank you also goes to the site principals from Washington Unified Prince Marshall and Dr. Felipe Mercado, and the principal from Selma Unified Sato Sanikian.

A big thank you also goes to the editors and reviewers of Editing Press for the detailed comments and professional accuracy.

A big thank you also to Dr. Hilary Nixon, Ph.D., Deputy Executive Director of the Mineta Transportation Institute for her support and patience.

The authors thank MTI staff, including Executive Director Karen Philbrick, PhD; Graphic Designer Alverina Eka Weinardy; and Executive Administrative Assistant Jill Carter.

Most importantly, the authors would like to thank all the students and teachers for their participation and enthusiasm.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Executive Summary	1	
II. Introduction The Fresno State Transportation Challenge	2 3	
III. Methods	4	
Participants	4	
Research Design	4	
Instruments	5	
IV. Results	6	
Quantitative Results	6	
Qualitative Results	10	
V. Discussion	15	
Abbreviations And Acronyms	16	
Endnotes	17	
Bibliography	18	
About the Authors		
Peer Review		

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Transportation-Related Learning, Comparison between Fully Participating Groups of Middle School Students and the ELA Comparison Group	7
2.	21 st Century Skills Comparison between the Three Groups of Middle School Students	8
3.	A Comparison of Motivation and Persistence between the Three Groups of Middle School Students	9
4.	Civic Engagement between Three Groups of Middle School Students	10

LIST OF TABLES

1. Demographics by Middle School Student Group

6

vii

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Fresno State Transportation Challenge (FSTC) uses an action civics approach to support K-8 students to develop transportation-related projects that have a positive impact on the community. The culminating outcome is a community showcase, where students present their work to the public. After an initial pilot phase in spring 2019, in an afterschool setting during the normal school year, the Fresno State Transportation Institute (FSTI) supported two cycles of the Transportation Challenge during the summer and fall of 2019: an intense three week program during summer school, and an eight to ten week program during classroom instructional time during the normal school year. Our research examining these two cycles found strong evidence that the Transportation Challenge can teach elementary and middle school students about transportation, about transportationrelated careers, and empower them to apply this knowledge in addressing transportation related issues in their community. Participating university students, who supported the K-8 students in their work on these projects, had a positive influence on the young students' learning experience and served as inspiring role models. Likewise, the university students appreciated the opportunity to interact with younger students and engage in meaningful learning. The pedagogical approaches of action civics and eduScrum, which frame the Transportation Challenge, were found to be an engaging framework that, on one hand, created a meaningful context for the program, and allowed all students to engage in the work on the other. The K-8 students reported that they felt they had a chance to be creative and work on meaningful projects to improve their community and learned how to collaborate better, work in a team, develop their critical thinking, and overcome challenges when working on the project. Overall, action civics approaches such as the Transportation Challenge are an effective way to involve youth in learning about transportation and empower them to have a positive impact on their community.

II. INTRODUCTION

The complexity of a globalized world, accelerating technological advances, and rapid change in many areas of society challenges educational systems. Around the world, the call to develop 21st century skills with a focus on career readiness, capacity for lifelong learning, and collaborative skills rises.¹ The development of the foundational elements of civic engagement (civic knowledge, skills, and dispositions) in children and youth is also a dominant concern for educators and policymakers. In response, this paper posits that the academic and civic empowerment gap can be closed by providing underserved students with interactive and authentic civic experiences.² Project-based service-learning is a proven approach to developing these skills.³ Moreover, the topic of transportation lends itself in an extraordinary fashion to interdisciplinary learning that is relevant and applicable to students' lives. At the same time, the Southwest Transportation Workforce Center (SWTWC) has identified a particular need for workforce development for the transportation industry. The National Transportation Career Pathways Final Report highlights "the fundamental lack of engagement at the K-12 and community college level unnecessarily restricts awareness and access to these professional careers."4 If trends from other areas in education hold up, it is likely that this lack of engagement is even further exacerbated for underserved students. Unfortunately, not all youth have the same exposure to a wide diversity of career paths or opportunities to engage in high-quality learning experiences and develop the self-efficacy to achieve academically, pursue demanding careers, and have a positive impact as citizens.

During the spring of 2019, the Fresno State Transportation Institute (FSTI) designed and piloted an authentic civic learning experience: Youth Designing the Future of Transportation. During this experience, students identified a transportation-related issue in their community, designed a solution, shared it with their community, and advocated for its application. The pilot run was implemented during an after-school program in an elementary school in Fresno County, California. This community is historically underserved with high levels of poverty and crime and low levels of academic achievement. The leading transportation issue the students identified was that walking to school was not safe. They collaborated with participating university students and came up with ways to make walking to their school safer. Then, they presented their solutions to the community, who were able to interact with a model the students built of their school. The students collected signatures for a petition to make walking to the school safer. Currently, public officials are working on improving the signage and adding more sidewalks. The research examining this pilot program found strong evidence that the approach can teach K-8 students about transportation and transportation-related careers, and empower them to apply this knowledge in addressing a transportation related issue in their community.⁵ To continue this research and improve upon the pilot phase, the Fresno State Transportation Challenge (FSTC) was further developed. The goal of the present study was to examine how the FSTI and university resources can best be leveraged to work with K-8 students on transportation topics. The study expanded its scope in regard to grade levels, school districts, and formats of implementation. While testing different formats, the research focus was on the outcome and guided by the research guestion: what is the impact of the FSTC on K-8 students, K-8 teachers, university students, and community members?

THE FRESNO STATE TRANSPORTATION CHALLENGE

The FSTC involved university faculty, university students, K-8 teachers, K-8 students, and community members. The participants worked on meaningful projects to solve a transportation-related issue in their community. The culminating outcome was a community showcase, where students presented their work to the community. The authors focused on three innovative pedagogical approaches. First, they used an action civics pedagogy for setting the broader context of the project. The action civics pedagogy is rooted in servicelearning, civic advocacy, and youth participatory action. Projects are framed in a way that encourage youth to experience themselves as active citizens who can make a positive impact on their community and society in general. Second, they used a design/engineering thinking process. Design thinking and engineering thinking are systematic processes used in the industry to develop solutions to problems with the goal to create innovative, userfriendly products and services. Key phases of these processes are: identifying a problem, researching, empathizing with users, ideating, prototyping, testing, and improving. The students thus learned through this process to identify needs of the community, and then develop, test and improve solutions. Third, they used eduScrum as a pedagogy to facilitate the organization of the project. Scrum is an agile process framework for managing complex knowledge work, originally developed in the software industry, but now used in a wide variety of contexts. The eduScrum method is an adaptation of this system to education. Students are working in self-managing teams, use a visual board with tasks written on post-it notes to make their work visible, and facilitate their collaboration. By using eduScrum students develop important career skills, such as collaboration and communication. The method also made it possible for each teacher to facilitate multiple small teams, and thus create an environment where students experience autonomy and responsibility to work on a project that interests them and engage fully in the project.

The process spanned four to six weeks, with weekly, hour-long instructional blocks. The process began with building students' knowledge about transportation-related topics and information. Then, students brainstormed topics and identified transportation-related issues in their community. Next, students explored extant research to design, ideate, and develop an action plan. Students then created a prototype or implemented their action to test and get feedback on it, leading to further testing, analysis, and improvement. Lastly, students shared their work with the broader public.

In this first development phase the educational scaffolding of the program focused on guiding students through the design/engineering thinking process and did not have a set curriculum. Transportation students from the University developed and shared a few presentation about transportation, depending on the interests of the students (e.g. modes of transportation, drones, autonomous vehicles, school sidewalk designs, etc.).

III. METHODS

PARTICIPANTS

The students that participated in the project came from one urban and one rural school district in the Central Valley in California. Both school districts had a very high percentage of underserved students, based on the percentage of free and reduced lunch of 88.2% and 83% reported by the California Department of Education. In the first iteration of the FSTC, during three weeks of summer school third, fifth, and seventh graders from the urban school participated (n=90 students). These grades were chosen in order to test the program with a variety of age groups. The second iteration took place during the school year and included one third grade class from the urban school district (n= 60 students). In a first step of expanding to a different school district, the work in the rural district focused on their middle school.

RESEARCH DESIGN

The authors' research design consisted of a *mixed methods* approach, which combines both quantitative and a qualitative data.

The quantitative data was collected from a survey administered to the seventh grade students at the end of the project to assess the impact of the FSTC. The authors measured students' transportation-related learning, their interest in transportation-related careers, their aspirations for higher education, their civic engagement, and their overall engagement with the project.

In order to evaluate the impact of the project, three conditions with varying degrees of interaction with the transportation project were created. The seventh grade students were grouped by three teachers at the same middle school. The subjects taught by the teacher during the periods they participated in were makerspace (students learn to create things in a shop with tools, 3D printers, laser cutters, etc.), computer science (students learn about computers, coding, designing apps, etc.), and English Language Arts (ELA). The makerspace and computer science classes fully participated in the project, while the ELA class was added as a comparison group. Full participation meant that University faculty led and coached the teachers in conducting the project during weekly sessions. University students regularly visited the classrooms to support students in their design processes and project management tasks through the eduScrum boards. Lastly, these students visited Fresno State to present their work. The comparison group, the ELA class, had limited interaction with the transportation project. University faculty visited twice and facilitated a discussion about which modes of transportation the comparison group used to get to school, how safe walking to school was, and launched the students into exploring ways to make a positive impact on this problem. However, there was no ongoing support from university faculty or university students for the ELA students. There was no systematic use of eduScrum processes, and this class did not present their work at the showcase at Fresno State. Table 1 reports the demographics of each group.

Qualitative data was collected through observations throughout the project and interviews

with University students, teachers, and community members. This component was designed to capture the complexity and experiences of the project process.

INSTRUMENTS

About a week after the completion of the project, an online questionnaire was administered to children with questions regarding their evaluation of the transportation project. Some quantitative items were developed specifically for this project and covered transportation-related learning ("I learned about transportation related issues"), 21st century skills ("I practiced critical thinking"), motivation and persistence ("I was more motivated than usual in school"), and civic engagement ("I learned that I can contribute to create a healthier and more prosperous future for my community"). In order to keep the survey as short as possible, we refrained from constructing scales and used single items to measure constructs with four possible responses ranging from 1 "not at all" to 4 "a lot." At the end there were also some open-ended questions in regards to their experience: What have you liked about this project? What have you NOT liked about this project? What are some things you have learned in this project?

The interviews of the teachers and university students were semi-structured. Participants were asked questions such as: What did you like about the project? What impact on the K-8 students did you notice? How is this different than what happens normally in school? What could be improved in the program?

IV. RESULTS

The research question of this study was: what is the impact of the FSTC on K–12 students, K–12 teachers, university students, and community members? To answer this research question, the authors conducted a quantitative analysis comparing three groups with varying degrees of interaction with the transportation project, and conducted a qualitative analysis in which the observations and interviews conducted during the study are reported.

QUANTITATIVE RESULTS

Table 1 reports the demographics of each group, indicating that a very high percentage of participating students had Hispanic backgrounds, and that the comparison group had a lower percentage of males than fully participating groups.

Group		Sex			Ethnicity/Race		
		Male	American Indian or Alaska Native	Asian	Hispanic/Mexican American	White/ Caucasian	Other/ Mixed Race
	Count	12	1	0	13	2	1
Makerspace	% within Group	70.6%	5.9%	0.0%	76.5%	11.8%	5.9%
Commutan	Count	9	1	0	8	0	0
science	% within Group	100%	11.1%	0.0%	88.9%	0.0%	0.0%
	Count	19	0	1	27	0	8
ELA	% within Group	52.8%	0.0%	2.8%	75.0%	0.0%	22.2%
	Count	40	2	1	48	2	9
Total	% within Group	64.5%	3.2%	1.6%	77.4%	3.2%	14.5%

Table 1. Demographics by Middle School Student Group

Transportation-Related Learning

Figure 1 depicts student-reported transportation-related learning. The two groups that were most intensely involved in the FSTC reported consistently higher results than the ELA comparison group. The authors conducted least significant difference (LSD) post hoc tests to statistically test for mean differences. They found statistically significant differences in the learning reported about transportation issues between computer science and ELA groups (p=0.011); transportation careers between makerspace and ELA groups (p=0.001) as well as computer science and ELA groups (p=0.012) as well as computer science and ELA groups (p=0.012) as well as computer science and ELA groups (p=0.014); and engineering-related careers between makerspace and ELA groups (p=0.008).



Figure 1. Transportation-Related Learning, Comparison between Fully Participating Groups of Middle School Students and the ELA Comparison Group

Developing 21st Century Skills

The extent to which students felt they were developing 21st century is reported in Figure 2. The two groups that were most intensely involved in the FSTC reported consistently higher statistics than the ELA comparison group. LSD post hoc tests were conducted to statistically test for mean differences between the ELA class and the other two groups. Statistically significant differences were not found in academic skills but critical thinking was higher for computer science (p=0.003), learning to collaborate better was higher for both makerspace

(p=0.002) and computer science (p=0.002), learning to communicate better was higher for both makerspace (p=0.001) and computer science (p=0.017), and learning to be more creative was higher for makerspace (p=0.014) as well as computer science (p=0.035).



21st Century Skills, Comparison Between Groups

Figure 2. 21st Century Skills Comparison between the Three Groups of Middle School Students

Developing Motivation And Persistence

The students in the two groups that were most intensely involved in the FSTC reported higher motivation and persistence. LSD post hoc tests were conducted to statistically test for mean differences between ELA and the other two groups, finding statistically significant differences in motivation in school for makerspace (p=0.011) and computer science groups (p=0.021) over the ELA group. Likewise, students reported learning not to give up and to learn from failures at a higher rate in makerspace (p=0.037) and computer science groups (p=0.025).



Figure 3. A Comparison of Motivation and Persistence between the Three Groups of Middle School Students

Developing Civic Engagement

The two groups that were most intensely involved in the FSTC reported high levels of learning about being an engaged citizen and their efficacy in contributing to a healthier, more prosperous future for their community (Figure 4). However, there were no statistically significant differences between the groups in regards to these areas.





QUALITATIVE RESULTS

Qualitative data gathered through observation and interviews is combined below to elaborate on how this process impacted different participants.

Impact on Elementary and Middle School Students

Transportation-Related Service-Learning

The action civics approach of rooting the project in terms of serving and improving their community definitely made the project real and motivating for students.

The following student comments highlight the affinity for working on something that improves their community:

"I liked working with my friends and making something to help our community be safer."

"I liked how this project is used to help other citizens."

In order to support the intrinsic motivation of students, it is crucial to connect the learning to their interests and needs. Framing the learning about transportation as a way to improve the community provided immediate practical relevance and helped contextualize the students' learning.

Applying Transportation-Related Knowledge

The students' ability to transfer their transportation knowledge and insights across domains and apply it to a community issue are indicative of deep-level learning. While the third graders during summer school initially required a lot of educational scaffolding (e.g. What is transportation? What is engineering? What is a mode of transportation?), they ended up incorporating their learning into their projects and applied it in relevant ways. For example, during the summer school program, the third graders were shown a YouTube video about a gondola system in Medellin, Colombia and then one team transferred this transportation solution to their problem of making walking to school safer. The seventh graders, during the summer school iteration of the FSTC, seemed to struggle with this transfer/application process. For example, despite having participated in a lecture about transportation by a Fresno State Transportation faculty, only few teams applied that information in their project. The seventh graders during the school year, however, had no difficulty applying their learning to the needs in their community. The main difference was that they were more closely supported by their teachers during the school year, which seems to indicate that the teachers play an important role to support this transfer of learning. It also offers an opportunity for the project to scaffold the transfer of knowledge more directly.

Creativity and Application of Transportation-Related Ideas

In order to model a professional practice of professionals or scholars meeting at a conference and learning from each other, we organized a transportation conference at the end of the summer school session. During the conference, the third and fifth graders met in the seventh grade classroom and presented their work to each other. When the seventh graders were asked afterwards what they thought about the third graders' solutions, they commented that "little kids have crazy ideas." The comment referred to an idea for a flying bed that would take kids to school safely. Interestingly enough, two weeks earlier, transportation faculty from the Fresno State University had presented to the seventh graders about drone technology, autonomous vehicles, and discussed what people would be doing in autonomous vehicles, how they would use their time, what those vehicles would look like, etc. While the seventh graders engaged in these conversations imagining the future of transportation, they still seemed confined by the status quo. The younger students were much more creative, although they didn't have direct exposure to the information shared by the university faculty. They really used their imagination to come up with solutions. Potentially, they tapped into experiences with media, TV, or other texts. Since a lot of the future of transportation is related to recent technological advances (e.g., battery technology, computing power, machine learning, business model innovation, etc.), certain ideas from science fiction are becoming more realistic. Some comments from students included:

"I liked that we got to show people our ideas and what kids can come up with."

"What I liked about this project is that we were creative and that we worked as a team. Also, that we understood what we had to do and we communicated."

The students have shown great creativity in their proposed projects. It required creative thinking to be able to envision how technological advances will impact society and how the students can leverage these advances to improve their community.

Transportation Careers and Attending University

The students also enjoyed the interaction with the university faculty and the university students. They asked many questions and were particularly interested in the university students' career pathways. This was evident for all age groups, but while the younger participants displayed a more general idea of "one day attending Fresno State University," discussions with the seventh graders centered much more specifically around how to apply for college and the availability of financial aid. The university students shared some of their personal situations and how they overcame difficulties to be able to attend the university. Participants commented:

"It made me get ideas on what I want to do when I grow up."

"What I most liked about this project is that I was able to think a little about my future."

"What I like is that we had the opportunity of going to the Fresno State campus."

The university students functioned as role models, with the K–12 students paying attention to details from their lives. For example, participants asked one all-male group of university students if there were any female engineering students at Fresno State University. It is thus important to be mindful about the image that is portrayed by the university students to ensure the younger students see a diversity of people represented. Similarly it was very impactful for the students to visit the University campus and see it for themselves. A majority of the students had never been there and interviews indicated that the visit made the idea of going to University more real, and also more attainable.

Team-Based Learning with eduScrum

The students seemed to enjoy the pedagogy of eduScrum. They actively engaged with their teams' eduScrum boards, which helped them organize their work and get a sense of the bigger picture of the project. They mapped their design/engineering thinking processes on the eduScrum boards, which helped the teams track their progress and manage their collaboration. Grouping the students into teams also made it easier for each student to play an active role and have a voice in working on something that was relevant to them. These quotes corroborate this view:

"It was fun to work as a group to help make this project and not to do it alone."

"What I liked about the project was that it was made as a team and that it had some difficult parts to make."

"I liked that we all got to communicate better and combine our thoughts and ideas."

Working in teams on a meaningful project can offer some of the most impactful and enjoyable learning experiences for students. A pedagogy such as eduScrum supports the intrinsic motivation of students and helps to facilitate collaboration and avoid typical frustrations with groupwork such as unequal participation or unclear expectations.

Impact on K–8 Teachers

Classroom teachers also shared an overall excitement to work on an authentic transportationrelated project. The participating teachers valued the ways the FSTC connected real-world experience to their curricular materials. The teachers also expressed that a lasting impact of the project was that their professional practice benefited from learning new instructional approaches, such as utilizing eduScrum, design thinking, and the action civics framework. In addition, teachers valued the collaboration with the university students and faculty as well as the community. The makerspace teacher, during the school phase, who took his kids to visit a local manufacturer and supplier of truck parts, noted that this experience provided a great opportunity to highlight similarities of the machines in the manufacturing plant to the tools and machines available to the students in the makerspace (e.g. laser cutter, lathe, drills, etc.) and exposed students to different careers in the transportation manufacturing industry. Lastly, teachers expressed gratitude for being acknowledged by the university. They made a point that as underserved schools they often feel left aside. The interactions with university faculty and students as well as the visit to the Fresno State University campus were powerful experiences for their students.

Impact on University Students

Overall, the university students enjoyed the experience. They talked about sharing their expertise with youth, "I enjoyed being able to go out and use my experiences and what I have learned in school to motivate young minds to pursue STEM-related fields and challenge themselves to think and solve problems." They also realized their personal academic journey was important to the kids, "The ability to share my story with other kids—not only did our group inform them about Transportation Engineering but also inspired them to continue with their education based on our experiences." The university students also expressed that they learned about kids and how to work with them:

"I learned that kids are more enthusiastic about doing a project when they are given the freedom of coming up with their own ideas."

"I learned how to communicate to children important ideas and values."

The university students were impacted by the project in a variety of ways. They not only felt more connected to the community, but also had an opportunity to be role models and pass on their passion for transportation. The authors hope that these exchanges between different generations of students will be extremely beneficial to building a career pipeline and get more students interested in university and particularly transportation-related careers.

Impact on Community Members

Some parents of the involved students participated in the visit to Fresno State University, during which time they provided some informal comments. One parent of a third grader assisted his son during the explanation of the prototype his group designed. The father was visibly proud of his son's work, and commented about how excited the student was about this project. This indicates how parental involvement can be fostered through projects like the FSTC and suggesting they could be leveraged more systematically in the future. Another parent shared her goal for all six of her children to go to college and that it was her first time to go to the Fresno State campus. Some of her children were already attending a local community college and were planning to transfer to the university. This is an indication of how an aspiration to attend college can be supported by the outreach of the university and the organization of culminating showcases on campus. All in all, the collaboration with parents could become more pronounced in the future.

V. DISCUSSION

The quantitative and qualitative data collected over the course of this project indicates that the FSTC is a high-quality educational experience that can engage underserved students and help them improve their communities. The quantitative data indicates that FSTC participants demonstrated transportation-related learning and development in 21st century skills such as critical thinking, collaboration, communication, and creativity. Furthermore, the students reported feeling more motivated to attend school and to persist in overcoming challenges. The qualitative data further captured the rich impact of the FSTC. Interactions with university students and faculty provided K–8 students with opportunities to explore transportation-related careers and consider university options for career development.

The pedagogical approaches of action civics and eduScrum were engaging and empowered students to select a project that matched their interests, fostering school engagement. Working in teams also helped create an engaging experience. The eduScrum method, paired with university faculty and student support, made it possible for the students to work in different teams and by having multiple different topics available, most students were able to work on a topic according to their interests. This ensured that students had a voice and choices in their learning experiences.

Overall, the FSTC is an effective way to engage K–12 students in transportation related topics and connect them to university resources. Some of the challenges of the project, ironically enough, are transportation related. It was not always easy to bring the university students to the K–12 schools. Conversely, bringing the K–12 students to the university campus required transportation resources as well.

In the next phase of the program, the authors of this study recommend creating a model that is sustainable and self-sufficient. For example, providing more professional development for teachers upfront would facilitate the implementation of the FSTC program. Also, increasing parental involvement would open up further possibilities to interact with the community and strengthen the home and school connection. Additionally, providing more transportation-related educational content through video and other technology would help facilitate students' understanding of transportation issues. Further, establishing a broader network of education and transportation professionals would strengthen the content and procedures of the FSTC.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ELA	English Language Arts
FSTC	Fresno State Transportation Challenge
FSTI	Fresno State Transportation Institute
LSD	Least Significant Difference

ENDNOTES

- 1. K. Ananiadou and M. Claro, "21st Century Skills and Competences for New Millennium Learners in OECD Countries" (working paper, OECD Education Series no. 41, OECD Publishing, 2009).
- CIRCLE, Civic Learning Through Action: The Case of Generation Citizen, (Medford, MA: Tufts University, 2013); S. Hart and C. Wandeler, "The Impact of Action Civics Service-Learning on Eighth-Grade Students' Civic Outcomes," International Journal of Research on Service-Learning and Community Engagement 6, no. 1, article 11 (2018); M. Levinson, No Citizen Left Behind (Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press, 2012); B. Rubin and B. Hayes, "No Backpacks' versus 'Drugs and Murder': The Promise and Complexity of Youth Civic Action Research," Harvard Educational Review 80 no. 3 (2010): 352–379.
- 3. A. Furco and S. Root, "Research Demonstrates the Value of Service Learning," *Phi Delta Kappan* 91 (2010): 16–20.
- 4. SWTWC, *National Transportation Career Pathways Initiative Final Report* (Long Beach, CA: California State University, 2019), 24.
- 5. C. Wandeler, S. Hart and F. Mercado, *Youth Design the Future of Transportation for Their Community* (San Jose State University, CA: Mineta Transportation Institute, 2019).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ananiadou, Katerina, and Magdalean Claro. "21st Century Skills and Competences for New Millennium Learners in OECD Countries" OECD Education Working Papers Series no. 41, OECD Publishing, 2009.
- CIRCLE. *Civic Learning Through Action: The Case of Generation Citizen.* Medford, MA: Tufts University, 2013.
- Furco, Anthony, and Susan Root. "Research Demonstrates the Value of Service Learning." *Phi Delta Kappan* 91 (2010): 16–20.
- Hart, Steven, and Christian Wandeler. "The Impact of Action Civics Service-Learning on Eighth-Grade Students' Civic Outcomes." *International Journal of Research on Service-Learning and Community Engagement* 6, no. 1, article 11 (2018).

Levinson, Meira. No Citizen Left Behind. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press, 2012.

- Rubin, Beth, and Brian Hayes. "No Backpacks' versus 'Drugs and Murder': The Promise and Complexity of Youth Civic Action Research." *Harvard Educational Review* 80 no. 3 (2010): 352–379.
- SWTWC. *National Transportation Career Pathways Initiative Final Report.* Long Beach, CA: California State University, 2019.
- Wandeler, Christian, Steven Hart, and Felipe Mercado. Youth Design the Future of Transportation for Their Community. San Jose State University, CA: Mineta Transportation Institute, 2019.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

DR. CHRISTIAN WANDELER

Dr. Christian Wandeler is an associate professor in research methods and statistics at California State University, Fresno. He has a Ph.D. in personality and positive psychology from the University of Zurich, Switzerland. His research interests are the development of hope and learning achievement, project-based learning, and self-managing teams. He is currently researching the use of agile learning methods and design thinking in action civics projects. He is also a certified trainer of teachers in the eduScrum method.

DR. STEVEN HART

Dr. Steven Hart is a full-time professor. He served as the principal investigator for a subgrantee award from the Learn and Serve "Civic Minor in Urban/Metropolitan Education" grant and co-principal investigator for the California State University Chancellor's Office "Preparing a New Generation of Educators for California" grant. Dr. Hart is an expert in service-learning and served as the service-learning fellow at Fresno State. He engaged in participatory research with youth, exploring literacy practices in service-learning contexts developing afterschool programs with community centers, and implementing service-learning pedagogy with classroom teachers. Dr. Hart also led the management of a substantial grant from the California Public Charter Schools Grant Program as a board member of Kepler Neighborhood Charter School.

PEER REVIEW

San José State University, of the California State University system, and the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI) Board of Trustees have agreed upon a peer review process required for all research published by MTI. The purpose of the review process is to ensure that the results presented are based upon a professionally acceptable research protocol.

MTI FOUNDER

Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta (Ex-Officio) Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation

Chair. Abbas Mohaddes (TE 2021) President & COO Econolite Group Inc.

Vice Chair, Will Kempton (TE 2022) Retired

Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, PhD (Ex-Officio) Mineta Transportation Institute San José State University

Richard Anderson (Ex-Officio) President & CEO Amtrak

David Castagnetti (TE 2021) Co-Founder Mehlman Castagnetti Rosen & Thomas

Maria Cino (TE 2021) Vice President America & U.S. Government **Relations Hewlett-Packard Enterprise** **Grace Crunican*** (TE 2022) Retired

Donna DeMartino (TE 2021) General Manager & CEO San Joaquin Regional Transit District

Nuria Fernandez* (TE 2020) General Manager & CEO Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority (VTA)

John Flaherty (TE 2020) Senior Fellow Silicon Valley American Leadership Form

Rose Guilbault (TE 2020) **Board Member** Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board

lan Jefferies (Ex-Officio) President & CEO Association of American Railroads

Diane Woodend Jones (TE 2022) Principal & Chair of Board Lea + Elliott, Inc.

Therese McMillan (TE 2022) Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)

Bradley Mims (TE 2020) President & CEO Conference of Minority Transportation Officials (COMTO)

Jeff Morales (TE 2022) Managing Principal InfraStrategies, LLC

Dan Moshavi, PhD (Ex-Officio) Dean, Lucas College and Graduate School of Business San José State University

Takayoshi Oshima (TE 2021) Chairman & CEO Allied Telesis, Inc.

Toks Omishakin (Ex-Officio) Director California Department of Transportation (Caltrans)

Paul Skoutelas (Ex-Officio) President & CEO American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

Dan Smith (TE 2020) President Capstone Financial Group, Inc.

Beverley Swaim-Staley (TE 2022) President Union Station Redevelopment Corporation

Jim Tymon (Ex-Officio) **Executive Director** American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

Larry Willis (Ex-Officio) President Transportation Trades Dept., AFL-CIO

(TE) = Term Expiration * = Past Chair, Board of Trustees

Directors

Karen Philbrick, Ph.D. **Executive Director**

Hilary Nixon, Ph.D. **Deputy Executive Director**

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D. Education Director National Transportation Finance

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Security Center Director

Center Director

Research Associates Policy Oversight Committee

Jan Botha, Ph.D. **Civil & Environmental Engineering** San José State University

Katherine Kao Cushing, Ph.D. **Enviromental Science** San José State University

Dave Czerwinski, Ph.D. Marketing and Decision Science San José State University

Frances Edwards, Ph.D. **Political Science** San José State University

Taeho Park, Ph.D. Organization and Management San José State University

Christa Bailey Martin Luther King, Jr. Library San José State University

